1929

# State of Utah v. Esther Besares : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

Assignment of Errors Nos. IV. V. VI. VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, and XII (Abs. 25-28).

This appeal presents a point of first impression in this jurisdiction, or elsewhere, so far as we have been able to find from the books, namely:

*Is an act of sexual perversion by the male a defilement of the female?*

It involves the construction of Subsection 4 of Section 8032. Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917. This provision reads:

8032. Homicide is also justifiable when committed by any person in either of the following cases:

4. When committed in a sudden heat of passion caused by the attempt of the deceased to commit a rape upon or to defile the wife, daughter, sister, mother, or other female relative or dependent of the accused, or when the defilement has actually been committed.

This Utah statute defining justifiable homicide contains provisions that are wholly unique, and this is perhaps the first case to be appealed in which these unusual provisions have had a direct application since their adoption into the body of our Code.

This provision is more than the "unwritten law" enacted into statute, and it is not a declaration of the common law, which merely reduced the slaying from murder to manslaughter, and it seems to go far beyond the limits of the

statutes of any other State. Somewhat similar statutes are in effect in New Mexico and Texas.

The New Mexico statute reads:

Code 1915, Section 1468. Any person who kills another, who is in the act of having carnal knowledge of such person's legal wife, shall be deemed justifiable; provided, that said husband and wife are not living separate but together as man and wife.

This section has been interpreted by the Supreme Court of that State in two cases:

State vs. Carabajal, 193 Pac. 406, 17 A. L. R. 1098.

State vs. Greenlee, 269 Pac. 331.

The Texas statute reads:

Homicide is justifiable when committed by the husband upon the person of any one taken in the act of adultery with his wife; provided, the killing takes place before the parties to the act of adultery have separated. Penal Code, Article 567.

Cited in:

Price vs. State, 18 Texas Appeals 474, 51 Am. Rep. 322.

And:

46 S. W. 369.  
 67 S. W. 411.  
 74 S. W. 307.  
 94 S. W. 1041.  
 165 S. W. 583.  
 160 S. W. 465.  
 180 S. W. 254.  
 243 S. W. 1093.



See also:

**Biggs vs. State, 29 Georgia 723, 76 Am. Dec. 638.**

The Common Law is stated by Blackstone:

“So if a man takes another in the act of adultery with his wife, and kills him directly upon the spot, though this was allowed by the laws of Solon, as likewise by the Roman civil law (if the adulterer was found in the husband’s own house), and also among the ancient Goths, yet in England, it is not absolutely ranked in the class of justifiable homicide as in the case of a forcible rape, but it is manslaughter. It is, however, the lowest degree of it; and therefor in such a case the court directed the burning in the hand to be gently inflicted, because there could not be a greater provocation. 4 Bl. Com. (Chitty) side page 191.”

And Bishop states the common law rule thus:

“If a husband finds his wife committing adultery, and provoked by the wrong instantly takes her life or the adulterer’s \* \* \* the homicide is only manslaughter. But if on merely hearing of the outrage he pursues and kills the offender, he commits murder. The distinction rests on the greater tendency of seeing the passing fact, than of hearing of it when accomplished, to stir the passions; and if a husband is not actually witnessing the wife’s adultery, but knows it is transpiring, and in an overpowering passion, no time for cooling having elapsed, he kills the wrong-doer, the offense is reduced to manslaughter.” 2 Bish. Crim. L. (7th ed.) Sec. 708.

It would seem that at common law the rule reducing the offense from murder to manslaughter was limited to the case of a cuckold. The statutes of Texas and New

Mexico, it will be observed, likewise apply only to the situation of a husband who is confronted with the adultery of his spouse.

In some cases, however, the principle has been applied where a father or brother kills one whom he detects in adultery or sexual intercourse with his daughter or sister or where one kills a man detected in sexual intercourse with his betrothed, and in like cases.

29 C. J. 1143, notes 66, 67, 68, and 69.

One of the citations in the annotation is referred to as "an unnatural offense with defendant's son."

Reg. vs. Fisher, 8 C. & P. 182, 34 E. C. L. 679.

We do not have access to this report. It is the only citation we have been able to find in which the circumstance of an unnatural act is considered in connection with the principle involved.

The Utah statute has twice been before this court in cases on appeal.

People vs. Halliday, 5 Utah 467, 17 Pac. 118.

State vs. Botha, 27 Utah 289, 75 Pac. 731.

In each of these cases, the slayer was the husband, and sought to justify under the Utah law.

The reason for the statute is well stated in State vs. Greenlee, *supra*.

"The purpose of the law is not vindictive. It is humane. It recognizes the ungovernable passion which possesses a man when immediately confronted with his wife's dishonor. It merely says the man who takes life under those circumstances is not to be punished; not because he has performed a meritorious deed; but because he has acted naturally and humanly. We in New Mexico have enacted, as has been enacted in Texas, that, instead of mitigating the homicide to manslaughter, as at common law, such circumstances justify the act. Such is the holding of the Texas, Utah, and Georgia decisions cited, and such is appellant's contention here."

A reading of the Utah statute at once discloses that it is not limited to the case of husband slaying wife or paramour as are the enactments in Texas and New Mexico. By its terms the statute applies where the defilement is of the wife, daughter, sister, mother or other female relative or dependent of the accused; and the justification runs in favor of any person who stands in the relationship of husband of the defiled wife, father or mother of the defiled daughter, brother or sister of the defiled sister, son or daughter of a defiled mother, and in fact any relative of a female who is defiled. The statute goes even to the extent of justifying homicide where there is no relationship by blood or marriage, but merely the fact of dependency. No distinction is made between father and mother; parenthood alone invokes the rule. A mother may take the life of the defiler of a daughter in the same circumstances as will shield the father, and with like immunity.

A question that is not laid by the terms of the statute itself is the meaning of the word "defile." Here judicial

construction and interpretation is necessary in its application. This court in the Botha case considered and approved an instruction defining defilement as it related to the facts of that case. There was no question of an unnatural act. The claim of justification was simple adultery with the accused's wife.

The trial court in our case adopted the instruction considered in the Botha case and gave it as the definition of defilement. It is instruction No. 12, reading as follows: (Abs. 6.)

“The defilement of a female, as meant by these instructions, is accomplished when any male person, not the husband of such female, has had sexual intercourse with such female, and the attempt to defile a person has been accomplished when such male person has attempted to have sexual intercourse with such female. The fact of the defilement or attempted defilement may exist where the female has given her consent to such sexual intercourse, as well as when she has not given her consent.”

This instruction as well as instructions No. 13, No. 14, and No. 15 (Abs. 6-8), limit defilement to sexual intercourse.

Instruction No. 12, as given, is good as far as it goes. The defendant requested this instruction as well as an amplification of the definition of defilement contained therein to cover all of the facts in the case and particularly defendant's defense. Defendant's requested instruction No. 23 is divided into six paragraphs. The court endorsed it as follows: “Given in part, refused in part, subject covered

by instruction given." The latter part of the endorsement is hardly a correct statement. The whole subject of our request was not covered in the instructions as given. No where in the charge to the jury is there any statement that our statute applies to a situation of sexual perversion such as was disclosed as the cause of this homicide.

The court's attention was specifically directed to this matter in the third paragraph of requested instruction No. 23 (Abs. 4), which reads:

"Likewise, an act of sexual perversion, or an attempt to commit an act of sexual perversion, such as *cunnilingus*, is a defilement, within the meaning of these instructions."

The instructions as given by the court entirely evade and avoid this whole issue. It was defendant's principal justification. Her testimony is not seriously disputed on the record. The deceased's affront to decency provoked the transport of passion which resulted in the stabbing. It was not an act of sexual intercourse; it was an act of sexual perversion upon the person of this defendant's daughter. A situation more calculated to arouse, outrage and inflame could scarcely be conceived by the normal mind. Coming upon a daughter in the act of nature may or may not provoke a parent to the desperation of homicide; but it can hardly be imagined that any father or mother could restrain the compelling impulse to slay on being confronted with the revolting posture of indecency which was exposed to the view of this defendant on entering the kitchen.

The trial judge, for some inexplicable reason, did not

touch the subject in his instructions. Either such an act is a defilement within the meaning of the statute or it is not, and it was the plain duty of the court to inform the jury as to what the law was upon this matter, indelicate though it may have been. The law must sometimes deal with life in the raw. A mere squeamishness will not excuse a failure to face unpleasant facts. The jury was not informed and was left wholly uninstructed upon the crux of defendant's justification and in the argument we were not permitted to state the law to be other or different from what the court had said it was in the instructions as given; and so the defendant's defense could not be adequately and fully presented and she was prevented from having a fair trial upon the facts of her case and the law applicable thereto.

Will any court in Christendom say that the unnatural act is not a defilement of the victimized female? If it is a defilement within the purview of our statute, then this case ought to be reversed and the defendant given a trial to a jury that is informed as to what the law is upon the facts of her defense.

## POINT II

### Assignment of Errors VI (Abs. 26).

Another part of our requested instruction No. 23, which was refused and not given by the court reads as follows (Abs. 4) :

“If the jury believe from the evidence in this case that the deceased, Jack Farish, had sexual in-

tercourse with the daughter of the defendant, or attempted to have such intercourse with her, or was about to take her away from her home for that purpose, *or that the deceased committed an act of sexual perversion, or attempted to commit an act of sexual perversion, upon the daughter of the defendant.* and if the jury further believe from the evidence that the defendant killed the deceased, Jack Farish, in a sudden heat of passion, and if the jury further believe from the evidence that said sudden heat of passion was caused by the said conduct of the deceased, then the jury should find the defendant 'not guilty.' "

Here again by the italicized portion of the request, the Court's attention was directed to the proposition that an act of sexual perversion, or an attempted act of perversion, upon the daughter of the defendant, was sufficient to invoke the statute and justify the homicide, if seeing it caused the heat of passion which resulted in the slaying.

The whole charge in this case upon the question of defendant's defense of justification under the statute is shot through with the vice so frequently condemned by this court in former decisions; namely, that the instructions are mere abstract statements of principles of law, and not specific as to the facts of defendant's defense.

State vs. Anselmo, 46 Utah 137, 148 Pac. 1071.

### POINT III

Assignment of Errors VII (Abs. 27).

The concluding sentence of requested instruction No.

23 reads (Abs. 4) :

And if, from all of the evidence in the case, the jury have a reasonable doubt as to the facts of justification under this instruction, it is the duty of the jury to acquit the defendant.

No where in its instructions to the jury did the trial court give this or a similar statement of the law upon the subject of justification due to the passion aroused from catching the daughter and the deceased in the illicit act. Such an instruction was given by the court as applied to justification on the ground of self defense, which also appeared from the evidence. This court in several decisions has approved the proposition that where the evidence of justification raises a reasonable doubt of guilt, it is the duty of the jury to acquit the defendant.

State vs. Vacos, 40 Utah 169, 120 Pac. 497.

State vs. Dewey, 41 Utah 538, 127 Pac. 275.

State vs. Harris, 58 Utah 331, 199 Pac. 145.

It is not the burden of the defendant to prove the circumstances of justification beyond a reasonable doubt. We sought to have this undisputed proposition applied to the other circumstance of justification in this case. It is respectfully submitted that the failure of the court to so instruct the jury was prejudicial error and that the judgment ought to be set aside on this further ground.

#### POINT IV

Assignment of Errors II and III (Abs. 25-26).



The defendant requested a binding instruction that she could not be found guilty of murder in either the first or second degree, and the refusal of these requested instructions is assigned as error. Any examination of the testimony in this case, we believe will convince the court that, even wholly disbelieving and disregarding the defendant's story and considering only the version given by Pace and Field, the case is at most one of voluntary manslaughter. It was unfair to the defendant to put her to the jeopardy of a finding of guilty on the murder charge. If the jury had been instructed that they should consider only the question of manslaughter or not guilty under the plea of justification, we have no doubt but that they would have come to the decision of "not guilty."

To permit the verdict by compromise to stand in this case would be a stark denial of justice.

## POINT V

### Assignment of Errors I (Abs. 25).

We also assign as error a question of evidence. The cross-examination of Mrs. Besares took a wide field and the District Attorney was permitted to engage in the tactic of unlimited harassment and repetition on repetition. He finally proceeded to examine the defendant as to the purpose of other people being in the premises. Over objection, the defendant was compelled to answer the following question:

"Mr. Marsh went there for the express purpose of carrying on the booze business there, didn't he?"

We submit this question had no place in the case; that it was not cross-examination; that it was wholly incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial, whether Marsh went there for the purpose of carrying on the booze business or not. The defendant was not on trial for nuisance and Marsh was not on trial at all. The question was manifestly calculated to stir the prejudice of the jury against the defendant for being in the place and we submit the ruling constitutes another prejudicial error.

The argument made covers the grounds relied upon for the motion for new trial, the denying of which is likewise assigned as error. (Abs. 28.)

Respectfully submitted,

**WOOLLEY & HOLTER,**  
Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant.