1929

State of Utah v. Esther Besares : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu_sc1

 Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief submitted to the Utah Supreme Court; funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services through the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library, and sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

George P. Parker; attorney general.

L.A. Miner; deputy attorney general; attorneys for respondent.

Recommended Citation

Brief of Respondent, *State of Utah v. Besares*, No. 4927 (Utah Supreme Court, 1929).

https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu_sc1/517

This Brief of Respondent is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965) by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. For more information, please contact hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu.

4927

In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

October Term, 1929

STATE OF UTAH,
Plaintiff and Respondent, }
vs.
ESTHER BESARES,
Defendant and Appellant. }

Respondent's Brief

GEORGE P. PARKER,
Attorney General

L. A. MINER,
Deputy Attorney General,
Attorneys for Respondent

In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

October Term, 1929

STATE OF UTAH,

Plaintiff and Respondent.

vs.

ESTHER BESARES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Respondent's Brief

This case came on for hearing on appeal without any brief having been filed on behalf of respondent, due to the fact that the brief of appellant was not filed until three or four days prior to the time this case was reached on the calendar. The appellant informed the Court at the hearing that he had nothing further to add to what was said in his brief.

The defendant in this case was charged in an information filed by the district attorney of the Second Judicial District in and for Weber County with the crime of Murder. The defendant in this case is a married woman. She had a daughter who was also married. The record discloses that the mother visited the home of the

daughter on the day of the homicide. It appears that the husband of the daughter was at the time confined in the Weber County jail. The record further discloses that there was considerable carousing and drinking going on at the home of the daughter on the evening of the homicide. The deceased and the daughter had been drinking and the evidence shows that on the day preceding the homicide that the daughter of the defendant had spent several hours in the room of the deceased at one of the hotels at Ogden.

The assignments of error argued by the appellant in his brief relate to the refusal of the Court to give certain requested instructions and to certain instructions as given by the Court, and it is contended that said assignments of error involve the construction of a part of section 8032 of the Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917. This section reads in part as follows :

Sec. 8032 Homicide is also justifiable when committed by any person in either of the following cases :

1. When resisting any attempt to murder any person, or to commit a felony, or to do some great bodily injury upon any person ;

2. When committed in defense of habitation, property, or person, against one who manifestly intends or endeavors, by violence or surprise, to commit a felony ; or against one who manifestly intends and endeavors, in a violent, riotous, or tumultuous manner, to enter the habitation of another person for the purpose of offering violence to any person therein ;

3. When committed in the lawful defense of such person, or of a wife, husband, parent, child, master, mistress, or servant of such person, when there is a reasonable ground to apprehend a design to commit a felony or to do some great bodily injury, and there is imminent danger of such design being accomplished; but such person, or the person in whose behalf the defense was made, if he was the assailant or engaged in mortal combat, must really and in good faith have endeavored to decline any further struggle before the homicide was committed.

4. When committed in a sudden heat of passion caused by the attempt of the deceased to commit a rape upon or to defile the wife, daughter, sister, mother, or other female relative or dependent of the accused, or when the defilement has actually been committed."

It is assumed by counsel for appellant that the testimony of the defendant as given at the trial, is that the defendant came upon the deceased in the act of committing what he terms "cunnilingus" with the daughter of the defendant, and one of the defenses to the charge contained in the information is predicated upon subdivision 4 of said section 8032, and counsel has assigned as error the refusal of the trial court to instruct the jury that cunnilingus constitutes a defilement within the meaning of said section 8032.

The testimony given by the defendant, which it is assumed by counsel for appellant in his brief, discloses a commission of cunnilingus, as follows:

"A. First Jack Farish kept following her around from one room to the other, and I said,

‘Thelma, please ask him to go’. He kept going around all the time, and they kept drinking and drinking; and finally everything was quiet in there, and I was playing solitaire, and when I got through with the game, I walked into the kitchen, and Jack Farish had her sitting on the table, and he had his head in between her legs. I grabbed hold of her and said, ‘My God, Thelma, get off the table, and you, Jack Farish, get out’. Jack Farish got up and wiped his mouth and went out in the other room, and I ordered him out, and he went to the front door and stood there. And when Thelma went out, I said, ‘Come here, Thelma’ and he was trying to coax her to go with him when she walked over there.

Q. What happened after that?

A. When he came up, coaxing her and was going, I walked over to the door, and I said to him ‘Jack Farish, you beast, you get out of this house, you dirty home-breaker; you are not going to break up Al’s home,’ and then he struck me in the eye, and I struck back at him, and he threw his hand to his hip, and I broke and run.”

The term “cunnilingus” is defined as follows:

“A carnal copulation consummated by the mouth and the female sexual organ.” 66 So. 963; 17 C.J. 402.

From the testimony of the defendant which we have quoted above and which is the only testimony in the record describing the conduct of the deceased in that direction, we are not prepared to concede that the offense of cunnilingus was in fact committed and for that reason we submit that the court did not err in refusing to give the

requested instruction of the defendant covering this particular matter and that the Court did not err in its instructions to the jury because it did not take into consideration and did not define the term *cunnilingus*. If it shall be assumed by the Court that the testimony of the defendant shows the actual commission of the offense of *cunnilingus*, we would also be willing to concede that the assignments of error relied upon by counsel for appellant in this connection are well taken. This for the reason that the term "defile" as used in said section 8032 is defined as follows:

"To pollute, to corrupt the chastity of, to debauch, to violate."

State vs. Fernald, 88 Ia. 553; 55 N.W. 534;

State vs. Montgomery, 79 Ia. 737; 45 N.W. 292;
18 C.J. 465:

The term "debauch" one of the synonyms for the word "defile" is defined as "to carnally know" in State vs. Reeves, 97 Mo. 669, and "carnal knowledge" is defined as sexual intercourse and sexual bodily connection by a man with a woman in 9 C.J. 1293. In view of these definitions it occurs to us that the offense of *cunnilingus* is included within the term "defile" as used in said section 8032, and that instruction No. 12 given by the Court, reading as follows: "the defilement of a female as meant by these instructions is accomplished when any male person not the husband of such female has had sexual intercourse with such female and the attempt to defile a person has been accomplished when such male person has

attempted to have such intercourse with such female. The fact of the defilement or attempted defilement may exist where the female has given her consent to such sexual intercourse, as well as when she has not given her consent'' would not be sufficiently broad if the testimony given by the defendant is held to be sufficient to designate the commission of the offense of cunnilingus. As we have already stated, there was testimony brought out on cross examination of one of the state's witnesses to the effect that the daughter of the defendant had occupied the same room with the deceased the day preceding the homicide and the evidence also discloses that the deceased and the defendant engaged in some altercation and that the defendant was struck by the deceased, and that it was upon her being struck by the deceased that she struck the deceased with a knife which produced the wound from which he died. In view of this testimony and the evidence the Court instructed the jury as to the law with reference to justifiable homicide in its instructions Nos. 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19. If it is held that the evidence as given by the defendant with respect to the conduct of the deceased with the daughter of the defendant is sufficient as a matter of law to show that the offense of cunnilingus had been committed, then it would be the duty of the Court to instruct as requested by the defendant but where much must be left to the imagination in order to determine just what transpired between the deceased and the daughter of the defendant and where the conduct of the deceased with the defendant does not show the required details constituting the of-

fense of cunnilingus as hereinbefore defined, then we submit that it was not error for the Court to refuse to instruct as requested and that the Court did not commit error in the giving of its instructions to the jury in which the term "defiled" as used in said section 8032 was explained. As a matter of fact we are of the opinion that the Court was eminently fair with the defendant and that the instructions given by the Court go perhaps further than the defendant was really entitled to, because there was no direct evidence that the accused had had any sexual intercourse whatever with the daughter of the defendant and none whatever to the effect that the mother of the daughter had any knowledge of the fact that her daughter had had sexual intercourse with the deceased, and this being the case the mother could not have killed the deceased while in the sudden heat of passion caused by her acquiring knowledge of the defilement of her daughter by the deceased.

In conclusion we simply have this to say that in our opinion the evidence is insufficient to show that the offense of cunnilingus was committed upon the daughter of the defendant by the deceased and in the absence of evidence tending to show that this particular offense had been committed, the Court was not justified in giving the instructions requested on behalf of the defendant. On the other hand we want to be understood as taking the position that in a proper case, that is where there is evidence to the effect that the offense of "cunnilingus" has been committed and that the defendant killed the male participant therein while in the sudden heat of

passion that it would be error for the Court not to instruct the jury that the term defile as used in said section 8032 is sufficiently broad to include that particular act.

Respectfully submitted,

GEORGE P. PARKER,
Attorney General

L. A. MINER,
Deputy Attorney General.
Attorneys for Respondent